IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO5-2379

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO SPECIAL ASSISTANT CCRC-SOUTH FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 955700 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd AVENUE, SUITE 400 FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Trial

Mr. Marshall was charged by indictment dated February 16, 1989, with first degree murder. Both Mr. Marshall and the victim, Jeffrey Henry, were inmates at the Martin Correctional Institute at the time of the crime for which Appellant was convicted. Appellant pled not guilty and presented evidence of self-defense at trial. Appellant's trial was held in November and December of 1989. A jury returned a verdict of guilty on first degree murder. At the penalty phase, trial counsel presented no mental health witnesses and no live testimony from family members. Appellant waived his right to present any statutory mitigation. The Appellant also waived his right to jury instructions on the statutory mitigators. Appellant would later allege that counsels preparation and presentation of mitigation was constitutionally inadequate.

Following conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended a life sentence without possibility of parole for 25 years. On December 12, 1989, the trial court overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Appellant to death. The trial judge found as mitigating only that Appellant behaved well at trial and had entered prison at a young age.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence, concluding that the "record in this case contains insufficient evidence to reasonably support the jury's recommendation of life.@ Marshall v. State, 604 So. 2d 799 (Fla.

1992), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 508 U.S. 915 (1993). Chief Justice Barkett, and Justices Kogan and Shaw concurred in the affirmance of guilt but found that "reasonable people could differ as to the appropriateness of the death penalty, and the court's override was therefore improper." <u>Id</u>.

Post-Conviction

On January 29, 1999, Appellant filed his final amended 3.850 motion for post conviction relief which raised twenty-seven claims. These claims included allegations of serious jury misconduct involving racial bias, predisposition of guilt, and juror consideration of non-record evidence such as news reports. These allegations, presented as AClaim IX@ in the 3.850 motion, were grounded on information provided by Florida attorney Ronald Smith based upon a phone call he had received from an unidentified juror from Mr. Marshall=s trial. On March 29, 1999, the State filed its response.

After a <u>Huff</u>¹ hearing on April 14, 1999, the trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing on three of Appellant's claims. Two of the three claims involved allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. The other claim involved a <u>Brady</u>² violation affecting the guilt phase of the trial. The trial court refused Appellants request for an evidentiary hearing regarding jury misconduct because it believed that Athe allegations alleged in the attached affidavits inhered in the verdict." (PC-R 1829) After

¹. Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993)

². Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

conducting a 3 day evidentiary hearing, the trial court issued an order on April 18, 2000, denying Appellant's Rule 3.850 motion. Thereafter, Mr. Marshall timely appealed the denial of his motion.

This Court in Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 2003), affirmed the trial court's order denying post conviction relief, with the exception of the claims of juror misconduct. On this issue the Court remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing. Marshall, 854 So. 2d at 1253.

Evidentiary Hearings Pursuant To Remand

Upon remand, an initial evidentiary hearing was held on March 24, 2004, at which six (6) of the twelve jurors appeared. The trial court construed the remand order in the most literal terms asking each juror only three, extremely narrow questions:

- 1. AWere you a juror in the case State versus Matthew Marshall that was tried in the courtroom in 1989 and Mr. Marshall was charged with first degree murder@? (R274, 276, 278, 280, 283, 285, 316, 319, 322);
- 2. AAre you the juror who phoned attorney Ronald B. Smith, who is a lawyer in Stuart, and said basically two things. First, that you were related to one of Mr. Smith=s clients and also that you were a juror in the case and that you observed other jurors doing things that were improper including making racial jokes and also failing to follow the judge=s instructions that the jurors should not come into any contact with news media coverage during the trial? (R274, 276,

278-279, 280-281, 283, 285-286, 316-317, 319-320, 323); and,

3. ADo you know who that person was?@(R274, 277, 279, 281, 283,286, 317, 320, 323).

Not surprisingly, the six jurors testified that they were not the juror who telephoned attorney Ronald Smith and did not know of any juror who had telephoned Mr. Smith. Two of the jurors were deceased at the time of the hearing, one man and one woman. The remaining four jurors could not be served with the Court=s subpoenas because they were either residing out of state or had moved within the state. (R258-260)

After this initial evidentiary hearing, defense counsel continued its efforts to locate and serve the remaining jurors. During this time, a CCRC investigator found juror Coy Lee Thomasons ex-wife at his last known address.(R327-331) This witness, Debra Thomason, told the investigator that she witnessed Coy Thomason reading newspaper articles and talking about the case to others at his workplace during the time he was serving as a juror.(R327-331) She indicated that her husband assumed from the beginning of the trial that Mr. Marshall was guilty because he was a prisoner. She was also aware of racial jokes made among the jurors.

Defense counsel then timely filed an Emergency Motion to Add a Witness for the follow up evidentiary hearing scheduled for May 19, 2004. An affidavit was attached to the motion in which Mrs. Thomason stated in pertinent part:

I, Debra Thomason, . . . was married to Coy Lee Thomason

from February 1979 until our separation in February 1999 and our divorce in July 2000. I was contacted regarding the whereabouts of my ex husband recently because of his role as a juror in the Matthew Marshall case. He was being sought by Martin County Judge Geiger regarding this case.

At the time that Coy Lee Thomason was a juror in that case we were married. I recall his being called for jury duty and I recall his reaction to being picked to be on the jury. He was very excited to be involved in what was a very high profile case. From day one he talked to me and others in my presence about the case. This included graphic details of the crime, court proceedings, deliberations, testimony etc. He discussed the case with the employees of our printing business during business hours within earshot of any customers there at our shop. He knew that he wasn supposed to talk about the case but he did anyway regularly.

He also followed the case in the newspapers, reading everything and cutting the articles out placing them in his briefcase. The first thing in the morning he looked forward to getting the paper and reading the latest coverage of the case. As late as 1999, when we physically separated, I know for a fact that he still had all the clippings from the newspapers in his briefcase which he carried with him everywhere.

My ex husband Coy Lee Thomason, also made it clear to me and others that the defendant in the case, Matthew Marshall, was guilty from the getgo. He spoke of Mr. Marshall as a man guilty of the charges from the day the trial commenced. Mr. Marshalls status as an inmate at the time of the crime appeared to prejudice his judgement.

In addition I read an article in our local newspaper a number of months back. It was titled Ajurors could go back to court@ and was printed in the summer of 2003 I believe. The article describes the deliberations in the Marshall case as having suffered from juror misconduct. The racial jokes and the sharing of information from newspaper articles brought my ex husband=s face immediately to mind.

Signed by me the 29th of April, 2004 at Hobe Sound, FL.

(R76-82)

Despite its obvious pertinence to the issues presented on remand, the court refused to allow Mr. Marshall to present the non-juror witness at the May 19th hearing. Inexplicably, the trial court suggested that the information from Debra Thomason was Anewly discovered evidence@ even though it was directly probative to the subject of evidentiary hearing ordered by the Supreme Court. The trial court suggested that Mr. Marshall was required to file a successive post - conviction motion in order for the testimony to be considered. (R76, 331) Counsel for Mr. Marshall argued that the court

should have heard and considered the evidence: A. . . we=re kind of uncovering what happened here. Now, maybe because one of the jurors didn=t want to fess up to that, that she made that call, there=s nothing we can do about that right now. But we have discovered a possible breach, a possible violation here so I=m asking the Court to continue along the path that we=ve been going and that way you can make a clear determination and make a decision for the Supreme Court.@(R335) In response, the judge reiterated his decision to deny the Emergency Motion to Add A Witness and instructed counsel to file Aan additional" post - conviction motion. (R337) During the remainder of the hearing, the court heard from three of the four remaining jurors, all whom testified they were not the juror who telephoned attorney Ronald Smith and did not know who did.

Thereafter, on June 1, 2004, counsel for Mr. Marshall filed a Successive Motion for Post Conviction Relief based on newly discovered evidence (R83-97) and filed a motion to interview juror Coy Lee Thomason. On June 5, 2004, witness Debra Thomason, age 48, unexpectedly died at a Hospice. Mrs. Thomason had given the investigator no indication of illness when she was interviewed and swore out the affidavit referenced above.

On June 30, 2004, an Amended Successive Motion was filed in response to the state=s allegations that the original motion was incomplete. (R108-119, 98-102) On that same day, counsel for Mr. Marshall notified the trial court that witness Debra Thomason had died. (R129) The record shows the death notice as an attachment to the Amended

successive motion. The trial court then held legal argument regarding how juror Coy Lee Thomason would be interviewed, in light of Mr. Marshall-s Successive Motion. (R355-360) Counsel for Mr. Marshall was adamant that counsel should be allowed to interview Coy Lee Thomason outside of the courtroom (with the prosecutor if need be) in order to discover relevant evidence A. . . in a non-threatening environment where there can be dialogue. (R358) Counsel further objected to the Court conducting the interview as he had done with other jurors because for A... Most people and most civilians the courtroom is overwhelming and a scary situation and they don t necessarily give forthright information. (R359) Counsel further argued that she Awas in disagreement with filing the successive motion. I thought this evidence should have been part of the original motion. ... now that it=s [a successive motion] that puts it in totally different procedure.@(R357) Mrs. Thomason=s untimely death made it critical that the trial court allow defense counsel sufficient leeway to develop juror Coy Thomason-s testimony through both informal interview and subsequent direct questioning in court.

On July 16, 2004, the state filed its Response to Defendants Amended Successive Motion. (R130-151) On August 25, 2004, the trial court partially granted Defendants motion to interview juror Coy Lee Thomason. The order stated A. . . Pursuant to rule 1.431(h) the interview will be conducted by the Court on September 8, 2004, at 4 p.m. The Court will conduct the initial questioning of the juror and will allow subsequent questioning by counsel for the defense and state as it deems appropriate. . .@(R152-153,

Due to an unfortunate series of events, including the judge=s decision to take senior status and the destruction caused by two hurricanes, the hearing scheduled to interview Coy Thomason did not take place until June 10, 2005. (R366, 377, 386, 392) During the June 10, 2005, hearing, the trial court indicated that he would ask the questions of Mr. Thomason, rather than allowing counsel to direct their own inquiry. Later in the hearing, defense counsel objected that the courts unnecessary restraint would frustrate her ability to uncover what Mr. Thomason knew: A. . . I=m from Broward County, I don=t come up here and read the local newspaper. There was plenty of coverage. I just want to know his state of mind, has he been told anything. . . . I would ask him general questions, have you talked to your kids, has anybody told you what is going on, what-s been in the newspaper. Have you read anything about your wife saying anything to anybody about this case. You know, I=m feeling constrained, but I=m limited, but I don=t have a choice. Asking a person a series of questions in an open fashion, it a more conversational type thing and this holds me back, you know. I=m used to asking the questions.@R413)

As if to illustrate his evident hostility to the entire process, the trial court first advised Mr. Thomason that the questioning would take Aa total of ten minutes. (R 392) The trial court then asked Mr. Thomason the same three anemic questions asked of other jurors regarding the phone call to Ronald Smith with the same inevitable result. (R404-405).

After a brief recess, Mr. Thomason was returned to the jury box for questioning regarding the Appellants successful petition. The following exchange between the judge and Mr. Thomason occurred:

THE COURT: And I have just two real quick questions on this issue. While you were a juror trying the Matthew Marshall case, did you ever discuss the case with your ex-wife Debra Thomason or any people at your place of work?

MR. THOMASON: No, Sir, I didn=t.

THE COURT: Did you ever read any newspaper articles regarding the Matthew Marshall case while you were a juror on the case?

MR. THOMASON: No, Sir, I didn#.

The trial court then asked counsel to suggest questions, allowing the defense to pose, through the court, only two additional questions:

THE COURT: ...First, did you**B**excuse me, did you at anytime carry a briefcase with you containing articles of the Matthew Marshall case?

MR. THOMASON: No, Sir, I didn=t.

THE COURT: Did anyone tell you or have you read any newspaper articles or heard anything on radio or television about why you were being called here today?

MR. THOMASON: No, Sir. I thought it was going to be questions about the trial.

THE COURT: And when you say you thought it was going to be questions about the trial, did you think it was going to be questions that I have asked you to this point?

MR. THOMASON: No, Sir, I didn=1. (R418-19)

On September 28, 2005, the trial court issued an order denying the juror misconduct claim based on the juror interviews described above. The order makes no mention of Debra Thomason and the trial court appears to have decided the motion without considering either her affidavit or that of attorney Ronald Smith. (R215-218) A timely notice of appeal was filed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant has made allegations of serious jury misconduct impugning the fairness of his trial in which the trial court overturned a jury=s recommendation of life and sentenced him to death. These allegations are backed by credible sources including the affidavit of an independent attorney who spoke with one of the jurors and the ex-wife of a juror who independently confirmed the specific misconduct previously reported by the attorney. Yet, despite these circumstances, the same trial judge who 16 years earlier had determined that the Appellant deserved to die despite a jury=s judgment to the contrary, chose to ask only three meaningless questions of the former jurors in a process destined to conceal rather than arrive at the truth. The trial court erred in construing this Court=s remand in this unnecessarily narrow fashion. The trial court erred in disallowing the introduction of proffered testimony from juror Coy Thomason=s former wife, requiring instead that the Appellant file a successive motion for post conviction relief based on newly discovered evidence. Finally, the trial court erred in disallowing the informal

deposition or interview of Coy Thomason outside of the courtroom, failing to properly and fully question Coy Thomason and unnecessarily refusing counsel the opportunity to direct limited questions of the witness. All of these errors have substantially prejudiced the Appellant and have produced a manifest miscarriage of justice.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ADEQUATELY QUESTION FORMER JURORS ABOUT JURY MISCONDUCT REVEALED BY TWO CONSISTENT AND INDEPENDENT SOURCES.

In his post conviction motion, Marshall alleged that racial remarks and jokes and the jury's consideration of non-record materials deprived him of a fair and impartial jury. The factual basis for this claim rested, initially, on the affidavit of Ronald Smith, a Florida lawyer entirely disconnected from the case. According to Mr. Smith's affidavit, he received a telephone call from a woman who claimed that she had served on the jury in Marshall's case. During the phone conversation with Mr. Smith, the woman indicated that (1) some jurors decided Marshall was guilty before the trial was over; (2) some jurors told racial jokes about Marshall; (3) some jurors announced during the guilt phase that they were going to vote for a guilty verdict and life sentence because they wanted Marshall to return to prison to kill more black inmates; and (4) some jurors, despite the trial judge's orders forbidding it, read and discussed articles concerning the trial. Mr. Smith, however, was unable to recall the name of the woman who called his office.

The trial judge, who 16 years earlier had rejected the jury's recommendation of life

and sentenced Marshall to death, summarily denied this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing. This court in Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 2003), reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the claim of jury misconduct. The Court recognized both the seriousness of the jury misconduct revealed in the phone call reported by Ronald Smith and that such "overt acts" did not "inhere" in the verdict: "[W]hen appeals to racial bias are made openly among the jurors, they constitute overt acts of misconduct. This is one way that we attempt to draw a bright line. ...[t]he issue of racial, ethnic, and religious bias in the courts is not simply a matter of 'political correctness' to be brushed aside by a thick-skinned judiciary... the alleged conduct, if established, ...[is] violative of the guarantees of both the federal and state constitutions which ensure all litigants a fair and impartial jury and equal protection of the law." Marshall, 854 So. 2d at 1241-42, citing State v. Hamilton, 574 So. 2d 124, 128. See also Wright v. CTL Distribution, Inc., 650 So. 2d 641, 643 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (stating that appellants, at the very least, must have an opportunity to determine the truth or falsity of juror's allegation in affidavit that racial slurs and comments were madeduringdeliberations).

This Court similarly found that Marshall's allegations regarding the use of non-record information and predispositions to find guilt did not inhere in the verdict: "... this Court has stated that any receipt by jurors of prejudicial nonrecord information constitutes an overt act subject to judicial inquiry. *See* <u>Baptist Hospital</u>, 579 So. 2d at

100-01.... See Roland v. State, 584 So. 2d 68, 70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (finding that motion supported by sworn affidavit of third party indicating that alternate juror had a predisposition to find defendant guilty for matters unrelated to trial warranted juror interviews)." Marshall, 854 So. 2d at 1241-42. Accordingly, this Court remanded the case with instructions for the trial court to conduct an appropriate hearing to ascertain whether misconduct had occurred.

The Court, however, was also concerned about the sanctity of the jury deliberation process and accordingly stated: AThe scope of the hearing on remand is limited to attempting to obtain the identity of the female juror who spoke to Mr. Smith, to interview that juror, and then to conduct further interviews only if the court determines that there is a reasonable probability of juror misconduct. Moreover, the trial court may wish to conduct most or all of the questioning of the jurors, thereby ensuring that unnecessarily intrusive questions will not be asked of the jurors and to prevent questioning on matters that inhere in the verdict. People v. Hedgecock, 51 Cal. 3d 395, 272 Cal. Rptr. 803, 795 P. 2d 1260, 1274 (1990) (discussing steps trial court can take to avoid a chilling effect on jury deliberations when holding evidentiary hearing on juror misconduct claim).

Marshall, 854 So.2d at 1253.

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