IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-2379

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 North Flagler Drive, 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by questioning the jurors itself

regarding the misconduct investigation mandated by the Florida Supreme Cour,

nor in the scope of the questions it asked. Furthermore, the court did not abuse its

discretion by not allowing testimony of a non-juror who had no direct knowledge

about the subjects which were the focus of the remand.

ARGUMENT

CLAIM I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS QUESTIONING OF THE FORMER JURORS GIVEN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S REMAND ORDER. (Restated).

Marshall claims that the trial court erred in limiting its questioning of the former jurors from Marshall's second penalty phase trial to three questions. He asserts that, based upon the affidavits of Ron Smith and Debra Thomason, the trial court had adequate grounds to open up the questioning of the jurors regarding possible misconduct. Describing the trial judge as "hostile" Marshall alleges that he asked overly "narrow", "perfunctory", and "meaningless" questions "not meant, nor perhaps designed, to realistically elicit meaningful information regarding jury misconduct" (R. 16) and which led to the "inevitable" result that none was found. "In essence, the trial court chose to not ask even a single questions directly relevant to the underlying allegations of jury misconduct. These claims are without merit, were waived, and are procedurally barred as well. The trial court's decision should be affirmed.

The court has discretion to decide the manner and method of any juror interviews it permits. Rule of Civil Procedure 1.431(h) governs the interview of a juror after a verdict. That rule states: "After notice and hearing, the trial judge shall enter an order denying the motion or permitting the interview. If the interview is permitted, the court may prescribe the place, manner, conditions, and scope of the interview." The standard of review for the trial court's decision on how to conduct a hearing and the evidentiary decisions for the questions asked during that hearing is abuse of discretion. <u>See Bernal v. Lipp</u>,562 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1990). The procedure and the questions the trial court used were both proper given the scope

of the remand order, the evidence before the court, and the requests of the parties during the proceedings. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in conducting the juror questioning itself nor in the scope of its questions.

Marshall first argues that the trial court should have expanded the scope of its inquiry once the death of a female juror was discovered. However, the Florida Supreme Court specifically limited the inquiry to ascertaining the identity of the juror and only then determining if there was a reasonable probability of juror misconduct. This Court specifically stated that the trial court may wish to conduct the questioning in order to avoid questions which inhere in the verdict.

The scope of the hearing on remand is limited to attempting to obtain the identity of the female juror who spoke to Mr. Smith, to interview that juror, and then to conduct further interviews only if the court determines that there is a reasonable probability of juror misconduct. Moreover, the trial court may wish to conduct most or all of the questioning of the jurors, thereby ensuring that unnecessarily intrusive questions will not be asked of the jurors and to prevent questioning on matters that inhere in the verdict.

<u>Marshall v. State</u>, (citations omitted). That is exactly what the trial court did and, thereby, did not abuse its discretion.

Marshall asserts that the trial court, on its own, construed the remand order in the "most literal" terms almost deliberately setting the stage so the defense could find no meaningful information out. However, defense counsel interviewed the jurors, without permission, before the first 3.851 motion and uncovered no evidence of jury misconduct related to racial statements or reading of newspaper articles during the trial and/or deliberations. Furthermore, Melissa Donoho, Marshall's counsel, not only did not object to either the court asking the questions or to the questions themselves, but she affirmatively agreed to both. Donoho was present throughout these proceedings and fully participated in the formation of these questions. Marshall did not preserve these issues for appeal by objecting to the procedures or the questions the court used for the juror inquiry. Marshall waived this issue by his agreement with the scope of the court's questions and is now barred from claiming error on appeal.

When a party either concurs with a court's actions or fails to alert the court to problems with its decision or course of action through an objection, that party waives the claim of error on appeal. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1991)(Defense waived future error claim by specifically requesting court to give jury instruction which constituted fundamental error); <u>Jones v. Miller</u>, 719 So. 2d 997, 998-9 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)(Party waives issue by failing to correct judge's erroneous oversight of prior summary judgement ruling); <u>Weber v. State</u>, 602 So.2d 1316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)(same - "defense counsel cannot be allowed to change legal positions in midstream[p]rinciples of estoppel, waiver, and invited

error forestall the possible success of such a ruse.") Although the State contends that the scope of the questions the trial court asked the jurors was proper given this Court's remand for a very limited evidentiary hearing and not error, the legal analysis of the defense's actions is comparable to that of invited error. Clearly, Donoho concurred in the court's inclination to limit the scope of the questions; in fact, she specifically wanted to limit the scope even more. Given her statements and stance at the evidentiary hearings, Marshall has waived the issue on appeal even if there was error.

To preserve an issue for appeal, a party must make a specific and contemporaneous objection made in the proceeding at issue, at the time the action occurred. J.B. v. State, 705 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1998). "Furthermore, in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." <u>Steinhorst</u> v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). This Court has explained that:

[t]he requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). This requirement gives the trial

judge the opportunity to address and possibly to redress a claimed error and also prevents counsel from allowing errors in the proceedings to go unchallenged and later using the error to a client's tactical advantage. See <u>J.B.</u>, 705 So. 2d at 1378.

The sole exception to the contemporaneous objection rule applies where the error is fundamental. Id. "[I]n order to be of such fundamental nature as to justify a reversal in the absence of timely objection the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960) (holding that the alleged error "did not permeate or saturate the trial with such basic invalidity as to lead to a reversal regardless of a timely objection"). Consequently, an error is said to be fundamental "when it goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process." J.B., 705 So. 2d at 1378; see also State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993) (stating that "for an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process"). "The doctrine of fundamental error should be applied only in rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application." Smith v. State, 521 So. 2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1988); see also Hopkins v.

State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994) (noting that "this Court has cautioned that the fundamental error doctrine should be used 'very guardedly'"); <u>F.B. v. State</u>, 852 So.2d 226 (Fla. 2003).

In the November 24, 2003 status conference the court and counsel discussed the scope of the proposed hearing based upon the remand order. The trial court, with the agreement of the State, decided to interview all the jurors, male and female alike, to ensure a complete investigation into the issue and expedite the process. The court also chose to order the subpoenas itself so as to protect counsel from ethics problems regarding the defense contacting the jurors. Clearly the court was not trying to unduly limit the inquiry. Donoho agreed to the procedures set out by the court including having the judge question the jurors. (R 231-251).

Six of the original twelve jurors appeared before the court on March 24, 2004. The State, the trial court, and Donoho discussed both the procedure the court would employ as well as the wording of the individual questions which would be asked the jurors. Donoho agreed that the court should do the questioning. (R. 262-263) During the discussion, the trial court suggested asking questions detailing the essence of the Smith affidavit but Donoho objected saying "I personally wouldn't want you asking something that detailed right away. It think it - it might scare them thinking that they have done something wrong and be afraid to tell the court." She

also cited the remand order by this Court as a reason to ask a less specific question. The trial court disagreed and decided to put the allegations into the question "in order to focus on why we're asking 'Do you know attorney Ron Smith..", thus presenting the jurors with the factual essence of alleged misconduct. (R. 266-7) The only party who objected to presenting the substance of the alleged misconduct before the jury was the defense. Marshall, through his counsel Donoho, proposed no additional questions for the court to ask these six jurors and offered no areas to follow-up on when the court inquired if the two sides wished to keep the jurors for further questioning. She did ask that the jurors be questioned individually, which to court agreed to do. (R. 286-7)

On May 19, 2004, three additional jurors testified at a hearing where the court asked the same series of questions using the same procedure. The <u>only</u> objection Donoho made was to the court using the phrase "against court order" in its question because it sounded "too harsh." Despite inquiry by the court, Donoho made no other objection and proposed no additional questions to put to the jurors. (R. 311-14) Marshall, through his counsel, specifically condoned both the manner of the juror interviews were conducted and the wording and scope of the questions asked for the first nine of the ten jurors still available. Marshall is now procedurally barred from raising these issues on appeal.

Even if this Court finds no procedural bar and no assent by Marshall to the questioning of the jurors, the manner of holding and questioning the jurors in such a hearing is within the trial court's discretion. Rule of Civ. Proc. sec. 1.431(h). An appellate court will not interfere with that decision absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Lewis, 656 So.2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1994); Schofield v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 461 So.2d 152, 155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), petition for review denied, 472 So.2d 1182 (Fla.1985). Additionally, the court may properly decide to conduct the questioning of the jurors itself. See, Preast V. Amica Mut.Ins. Co., 483 So.2d 83 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 492 So.2d 1334 (Fla.1986). This rule allowing interview of jurors does not authorize broad hunting expeditions or fishing excursions. National Indem. Co. v. Andrews, 354 So.2d 454 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978), certiorari denied 359 So.2d 1210. Under this standard, the Court's ruling will be upheld "unless ... no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla.1980); See Ford v. Ford, 700 So.2d 191, 195(Fla. 4th DCA 1997); Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla.2000), citing Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla.1990).

Marshall also contends that the trial court's questions prevented the jurors from either knowing what the court was looking for or relating relevant facts or information. "*Indeed, the jurors could not have revealed any knowledge that they* may have had concerning the allegations of misconduct because, in fact, they were never asked." (Br. 17) However, the record clearly shows that there was no such constraint on the jurors' willingness or ability to provide the court with pertinent information. More than one juror took the opportunity afforded by the trial court's questioning to volunteer information or to ask questions of the court. Juror Larsen volunteered that the media had contacted him after the trial and gave details of that contact. (R. 281) Juror Bachmann, far from being intimidated or wanting to hide information as suggested, brought up being approached after the trial (by the defense) and questioned about her deliberations thereby showing that the jurors were aware that the court was investigating possible misconduct and they were willing to volunteer information not specifically asked for in order to assist the court. (R. 320-1)

Furthermore, none of the jurors questioned had any information relevant to the alleged misconduct regarding exposure to or discussion or media coverage or to racial jokes or discussions made during deliberations, which were the specific allegations contained in the Smith affidavit. Each and every one of the ten surviving jurors denied knowing about any such misconduct - and they were asked because of the court's insistence on asking such detailed questions. Juror Luttman specifically said the following in response to the court's questioning: "I did not listen to anything or talk about the case at all and I don't know of anyone else that did. If they did, it's not to my knowledge." (R. 317) Her testimony, as that of the other jurors, directly confounds Marshall's assertions that 1) misconduct occurred regarding the allegations raised in Smith's affidavit; 2) the jurors could not respond adequately because of the "narrow" questions asked by the court alone, or 3) jurors could not understand the nature of the inquiry. Besides testimony from these jurors there is no other way *jury* misconduct could be shown. Clearly, there is no fundamental error nor an abuse of discretion.

Once Marshall had filed the successive 3.851 motion, the trial court did allow additional discovery and granted the defense the opportunity to interview Mr. Thomason based upon the "newly discovered evidence" contained in his exwife's affidavit. (R. 152) The court ruled that it would follow the procedures, previously agreed to by Marshall and used with the other nine jurors. In agreeing to allow a broader interview of Thomason than the other jurors, the court specifically said: "I don't want to restrict a complete examination of Mr. Thomason." (R. 359) At the commencement of the June 10, 2005 hearing, defense counsel Donoho agreed with the trial court asking the same three questions it had of the other jurors (R. 399, 402) and admitted that she had *not bothered* to prepare any questions for Thomason regarding Debra Thomason's allegations. (R. 401) After the initial questioning by the court, which the defense did not object to, the trial judge then asked Thomason several questions proposed by the State and Donoho; it restricted the questions to topics covered by the affidavit and to subjects which did not inhere in the verdict. (R. 410-417)

None of the ten jurors testified that they contacted Smith, knew of any juror who did, or knew of any misconduct relating to making racial jokes or following media coverage of the trial. Juror Thomason denied any misconduct, reading or listening to media coverage of the case, or discussing the case with anyone outside the jury room. (R. 406)He further denied carrying clippings of articles about the trial with him or of even knowing why he was brought into court. (R. 418-420)

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